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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	JASON A. HUNT, 

                                  Employee, 

                                             Applicant,

                                                 v. 

PREMIER REMEDIATION,

                                 Uninsured Employer,

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

BENEFITS GUARANTY FUND,

                                                Defendants.


	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  201008904
AWCB Decision No. 11-0036

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

On April 5, 2011


Jason Hunt’s (Applicant) workers’ compensation claim was heard on March 9, 2011, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Applicant appeared and testified.  Attorney Eric Croft represented Applicant.  Attorney Steven Smith represented Premier Remediation (Premier), which was uninsured for work-related injuries at the time of this injury.  Adjuster Joanne Pride represented the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund (the Fund).  Other witnesses included Premier’s owner, Paul Casey (by telephone), William Hunt, and Kelly Hunt.  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion on March 9, 2011.

ISSUES

Applicant contends he is entitled to a determination he was Premier’s employee when injured on May 11, 2010.  Applicant seeks temporary total disability (TTD) benefits and payment of past medical treatment related to his left arm, which he contends he injured while working for Premier.  He also seeks a penalty for Premier’s failure to pay compensation or controvert his claim, and attorney’s fees and costs.  Premier contends Applicant was not its employee at the time of any injury.  Rather, it contends Applicant was an independent contractor.  Premier did not make any argument or submit any evidence contending Applicant’s need for medical care was unrelated to his May 11, 2010 injury.

The Fund has not taken a position whether Applicant was Premier’s employee on the day he was injured.  Therefore, the Fund contends it should not be subject to any attorney's fees, interest or penalties that might be assessed against Premier.  These issues, by the parties’ stipulation, are preserved for another hearing.

1) On the date of his injury on May 11, 2010, was Applicant an “employee” employed by Premier, an “employer,” under AS 23.30.395(19)-(20), and the “relative nature of the work test,” as codified in 8 AAC 45.890?

2) Is Applicant entitled to an award of TTD from Premier from May 11, 2010, through August 2, 2010?

3) Is Applicant entitled to an award of medical costs from Premier?

4) Is Applicant entitled to a penalty from Premier payable to him or his medical providers under 
AS 23.30.155(d) and (e)?

5) Is Applicant entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT

A review of the entire record establishes the following facts and factual conclusions by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On May 10, 2010, Applicant began working for Premier.  (Applicant; Kelly Hunt; Casey).
2) Premier paid Applicant $15.00 per hour for services rendered.  (Applicant; William Hunt).
3) On May 11, 2010, Applicant was injured while working for Premier on a landscaping project off Knik Goose Bay Road (KGBR Project).  Applicant was cutting down trees with a chainsaw when the tree Applicant was cutting twisted in the wind and cut his arm.  (Report of Injury, July 16, 2010; Petition to Correct Date of Injury, October 8, 2010; Emergency Room Report, Dr. Legenza, May 11, 2010; Applicant).
4) William Hunt and Paul Casey were present when the injury occurred.  William Hunt drove Applicant to the emergency room for medical treatment and Mr. Casey witnessed Applicant leaving the worksite to go to the emergency room.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
5) On May 11, 2010, Raymond Legenza, M.D., at Mat-Su Regional Medical Center, treated Applicant in the emergency room for a chainsaw laceration to the left forearm.  Dr. Legenza stated, “[Applicant] comes in with a laceration from a chainsaw to his forearm.  It could have been a lot worse.  These appear wide as the chainsaw ripped apart the tissue but did not go into deep vital structures.”  (Emergency Room Report, Dr. Legenza, May 11, 2010).
6) On July 13, 2010, Applicant filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) for TTD, permanent partial impairment (PPI), Medical Costs, Transportation Costs, Penalty, and Interest.  (WCC, July 13, 2010).
7) On July 27, 2010, Leslie Dean, M.D., treated Applicant for his chainsaw injury.  Dr. Dean reported clean, healed lacerations but referred Applicant to Michel Gevaert, M.D., for an electromyography (EMG) evaluation because Applicant complained of numbness in his fingers.  Dr. Dean released Applicant to light duty work on August 2, 2010, and Applicant returned to work as a roofer. (Chart Note, Dr. Dean, July 27, 2010; Chart Note, Dr. Dean, August 11, 2010).
8) On July 28, 2010, Dr. Gevaert evaluated Applicant and noted normal electromyography.  (Letter from Dr. Gevaert to Dr. Dean, July 28, 2010).
9) On July 29, 2010, Premier answered Applicant’s WCC and denied Applicant’s claim upon the sole basis Applicant was not its employee but instead was a subcontractor.  Other than contending Applicant was not its “employee” under the Act, Premier does not dispute Applicant’s entitlement to benefits or Premier’s liability for those benefits.    (Premier Answer, July 29, 2010).
10) On August 11, 2010, Dr. Dean treated Applicant for follow up to his left wrist and forearm chainsaw injury.  Dr. Dean released Applicant to work full duty.  Dr. Dean also opined Applicant was not medically stable stating, “I will see the patient back in the fall to see how he is progressing.  If the patient is doing fine, then he will be deemed medically stable and an impairment rating can be determined.”  (Chart Note, Dr. Dean, August 11, 2010).
11) On September 3, 2010, Applicant filed an amended WCC for TTD from May 12, 2010, through August 2, 2010, medical costs of $5,634.45, penalty and attorney’s fees and costs.  (WCC, September 3, 2010).
12) Premier operates a landscaping business and uses equipment such as excavators and chainsaws to clear and level property.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
13) Premier’s business is providing landscaping and snow plowing services. To do this, laborers are recruited to clear and level lots.  Performing landscaping services, including tree cutting, is an integral part of owning and operating a landscaping business.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
14) Applicant was one of several laborers hired by Premier to clear and level property for the KGBR Project.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Kelly Hunt).
15) Applicant was hired for the summer to work on jobs Mr. Casey bid for Premier.  Mr. Casey told Applicant there would likely be additional work for him arising from bids Premier was submitting for additional projects during the summer.  Applicant would have continued working for Premier as a laborer during the summer of 2010 on additional projects Premier bid. (Applicant; Casey).
16) Applicant’s work for Premier involved relatively little skill or experience.  Applicant did not have any formal tree cutting training and learned the skill from his father when helping out at his parents’ house.  Applicant’s work for Premier required no special education, training, or particular experience.  (Applicant).
17) At hearing on March 9, 2011, Paul Casey testified he hired Applicant, William Hunt, Joe Lott and one other individual all as subcontractors to clear and level a lot off Knik Goose Bay Road.  Mr. Casey testified he bid the KGBR Project as a five day job; he reached five days by calculating man-hours divided by the number of subcontractors he could get to do the job and this calculation totaled five days for four people.  Mr. Casey also testified he paid the entire amount budgeted for the tree cutting portion of the bid to William Hunt as a subcontractor and William Hunt’s contract was a flat rate of $315.00 to cut trees, cut the felled trees into 8 to 12 foot segments and stack the trees on the edge of the drive.  Mr. Casey later testified he subsequently hired Applicant as a subcontractor “on the same terms” as William Hunt, which was payment of a $315.00 flat rate to cut trees, cut the felled trees into 8 to 12 foot segments and stack the trees on the edge of the drive.  Mr. Casey testified he paid Applicant $315.00 for the project in addition to the $315.00 Mr. Casey paid William Hunt for the same project.  Mr. Casey also testified he told William Hunt “he would get a couple more guys to cut trees down as well” and when William Hunt asked Mr. Casey if Applicant could join the KGBR Project, Mr. Casey said yes, Premier “could take another laborer on.” (Casey).
18) Premier did not hire Applicant until after the KGBR Project was bid and in progress.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
19) Applicant never owned or operated his own landscaping or tree cutting business prior to May 10, 2010.  Applicant did not have a business license or a workers’ compensation policy on himself.  (Applicant; William Hunt).
20) Applicant’s job just prior to working for Premier was delivering newspapers for the Anchorage Daily News.  (Applicant).
21) Applicant did not have the right to hire or terminate anyone to assist him in his Premier work.   Premier and Applicant each possessed the right to terminate the employment relationship at will and without cause.  None of the other workers on the KGBR Project had the authority to hire or fire each other, with the exception of Mr. Casey.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
22) Mr. Casey supervised Applicant’s work, instructed him how to cut trees, directed him to cut specific trees and not others, and directed him to cut the removed trees and load them on Mr. Casey’s trailer.  Mr. Casey was onsite regularly, overseeing Applicant’s work and specifically correcting or directing Applicant’s performance of the work.  For example, when Mr. Casey saw Applicant and another laborer using an excavator to steady a tree in the wind before Applicant cut it, Mr. Casey directed Applicant not to do so and instead use the lanyards Premier provided for just that purpose.  Mr. Casey also instructed Applicant how to notch the trees before cutting them.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
23) Premier provided Applicant’s tools, instruments and all equipment necessary to complete the KGBR Project.  Applicant had no tree cutting tools of his own and used Premier’s hard hat and chainsaw to cut trees.  Mr. Casey testified the chainsaw Applicant used did not belong to Premier but to Joe Lott, another “subcontractor” on the project.  However, Mr. Casey supplied the chainsaw, which he retrieved from the back of a Premier truck, to Applicant for use in the performance the work.  The chainsaw was provided by Premier.  Premier also provided the heavy equipment for the project, including vehicles and a trailer.  The heavy equipment used for the KGBR Project is valued at approximately $108,000.  The hard hat, chainsaw, vehicle, and trailer Employee used in performance of his work are valued at approximately $40,000.  (Applicant; William Hunt; Casey).
24) Employee entered into an express oral agreement for employment as a laborer with Premier.  (Applicant).
25) If Mr. Casey had not found Applicant or William Hunt to perform the services, Mr. Casey would have performed them himself.  (Casey).
26) Workers’ compensation insurance premiums are relatively expensive, depending upon the nature of the employer’s business, and its payroll.  (Experience, judgment, observations, and inferences drawn from all of the above).
27) Applicant properly filed bills and records documenting $4,752.21 in medical costs.  These included an $888.00 bill from Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians and a $2,077.99 bill from Mat-Su Regional Medical Center related to Applicant’s emergency room visit on May 11, 2010, a $1,768.00 bill from Alaska Spine Institute for Applicant’s nerve testing on July 28, 2010, and a Wal-Mart Pharmacy prescription for $18.22.  Premier received proper notice of these bills when Applicant provided them on Medical Summaries and a Medical Bill Itemization.  These bills remain unpaid.  (Affidavit of Service, September 3, 2010; Medical Summary, October 1, 2010; Medical Bill Itemization, January 19, 2011; Medical Summary, March 25, 2011).
28) Applicant did not submit any medical records relating to a $78.00 bill from Sunshine Community Health Center.  Applicant did not submit any Anchorage Fracture billing statements documenting charges of $430.00 and $118.00. (Record).
29) Premier did not file proof of payment of Applicant’s bills, or controvert Applicant’s claim on a Board-prescribed Controversion Notice.  Premier did not submit any evidence why it was unable to meet its legal obligation, if any, to pay Applicant’s claim. (Record).
30) A 25% penalty on the value of Applicant’s documented unpaid bills equals $222.00 for the Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians bill, $519.50 for Mat-Su Regional Medical Center, $442.00 for Alaska Spine Institute and $4.56 for Wal-Mart Pharmacy. (Record).
31) Applicant’s attorney Eric Croft submitted two attorney fee affidavits. The first itemized 29.8 hours of attorney and paralegal time, at rates of $275 and $150 per hour for a total of $6,607.50 in attorney and paralegal fees. (Affidavit of Fees of Eric Croft, March 2, 2011). The second itemized 6.3 hours of attorney and paralegal time at rates ranging from $275 and $150 per hour for a total of $1,582.50 in attorney and paralegal fees. (Supplemental Affidavit of Fees of Eric Croft, March 9, 2011).  Total attorney and paralegal fees equal $8,189.50.

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001. Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

. . .

(4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

Under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act), coverage is established by work connection, meaning the injury must have “arisen out of” and “in the course of” employment.  If an accidental injury is connected with any of the incidents of one’s employment, then the injury both would “arise out of” and be “in the course of” employment.  The “arising out of” and the “in the course of” tests should not be kept in separate compartments but should be merged into a single concept of “work connection.”  Northern Corp. v. Saari, 409 P.2d 845, 846 (Alaska 1966).

AS 23.30.005. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board.

. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .

AS 23.30.010. Coverage. (a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by AS 23.30.120(a)’s presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-65 (Alaska 1991).  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is often necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.  Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).
Under the Act, an employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be reasonable and necessitated by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is undisputedly work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Phillip Weidner & Associates Inc. v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 731 (Alaska 1999).

An injured worker is entitled to a prospective determination of whether the injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.110. Procedure on claims. (a) Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability . . . and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim. . . .

The language “all questions” is limited to questions raised by the parties or by the agency upon notice duly given to the parties.  Simon v. Alaska Wood Products, 633 P.2d 252, 256 (Alaska 1981).  The board may not decline to hear disputes concerning a validly filed claim.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369, 1371-72 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions 

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; …

Under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), benefits sought by an injured worker are presumed to be compensable.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  The presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute, including disability and medical benefits and the existence of an employment relationship between an employee and an employer.  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996)(emphasis omitted); Moretz.v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991); Cluff v. NANA-Marriott, 892 P.2d 164, 170 (Alaska 1995). 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  To attach the presumption of compensability, an employee must first establish a “preliminary link” between his or her injury and the employment.  See, e.g., Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 610 (Alaska 1999).  For injuries occurring after the 2005 amendments to the Act, if the employee establishes the link, the presumption may be overcome when the employer presents substantial evidence which demonstrates a cause other than employment played a greater role in causing the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 7 (March 25, 2011).  Because the board considers the employer’s evidence by itself and does not weigh the employee’s evidence against the employer’s rebuttal evidence, credibility of the parties and witnesses is not examined at this point.  See, e.g., Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869-870 (Alaska 1985); Order on Motion for Reconsideration, Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Appeal No. 10-001 (April 1, 2011).  If the board finds the employer’s evidence is sufficient, then the presumption of compensability drops out and the employee must prove his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence, that in relation to other causes, employment was the substantial cause of the disability or need for medical treatment.  Runstrom v. Alaska Native Medical Center, AWCAC Decision No. 150 at 8 (March 25, 2011).  This means the employee must “induce a belief” in the minds of the fact finders the facts being asserted are probably true.  See Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  In the third step, the evidence is weighed, inferences are drawn from the evidence, and credibility is considered.

If the facts of a case are not in dispute, the presumption of compensability is not applied.  Rockney v. Boslough Const. Co., 115 P.3d 1240, 1244 (Alaska 2005); Burke v. Houston Nana, LLC, 222 P.3d 851, 861 (Alaska 2010).

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

The board’s finding of credibility “is binding for any review of the Board’s factual findings.”  Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., 204 P.3d 1001, 1008 (Alaska 2009).  The board has the sole power to determine witness credibility, and its findings about weight are conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting.  See, e.g.,  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 153 (Alaska 2007); Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1253 (Alaska 2007); Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 431 (Alaska 2005). 

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney Fees. (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation. When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. When the board advises that a claim has not been controverted, but further advises that bona fide legal services have been rendered in respect to the claim, then the board shall direct the payment of the fees out of the compensation awarded. In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection .145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under subsection .145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, subsection .145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 160 P.3d 146, 150-51 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them. Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of Compensation. . . . 

. . .

(b)The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period.

. . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.  If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the division and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due.  When payment of temporary disability benefits is controverted solely on the grounds that another employer or another insurer of the same employer may be responsible for all or a portion of the benefits, the most recent employer or insurer who is party to the claim and who may be liable shall make the payments during the pendency of the dispute.  When a final determination of liability is made, any reimbursement required, including interest at the statutory rate, and all costs and attorney fees incurred by the prevailing employer, shall be made within 14 days after the determination.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of the installment.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.  The additional amount shall be paid directly to the recipient to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid.

AS 23.30.185. Compensation for temporary total disability.  In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability. Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(2) ‘arising out of and in the course of employment’ includes employer-required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities; but excludes recreational league activities sponsored by the employer, unless participation is required as a condition of employment, and activities of a personal nature away from employer-provided facilities;

[image: image1.wmf]

Starpage_999

. . .

(19) ‘employee’ means an employee employed by an employer as defined in (20) of this section;

(20) ‘employer’ means the state or its political subdivision or a person employing one or more persons in connection with a business or industry coming within the scope of this chapter and carried on in this state ....

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.  

. . .

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.   If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.

 
(c) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an attorney fee may not be collected from an applicant without board approval.  A request for approval of a fee to be paid by an applicant must be supported by an affidavit showing the extent and character of the legal services performed. . . . 


(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.


(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim. The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim…

8 AAC 45.890. Determining employee status. For purposes of 
AS 23.30.395(19) and this chapter, the board will determine whether a person is an ‘employee’ based on the relative-nature-of-the-work test. The test will include a determination under (1)-(6) of this section.  Paragraphs (1) and (2) of this section are the most important factors, and at least one of these two factors must be resolved in favor of an ‘employee’ status for the board to find that a person is an employee.  The board will consider whether the work 

(1) is a separate calling or business; if the person performing the services has the right to hire or terminate others to assist in the performance of the service for which the person was hired, there is an inference that the person is not an employee; if the employer 

(A) has the right to exercise control of the manner and means to accomplish the desired results, there is a strong inference of employee status; 

(B) and the person performing the services have the right to terminate the relationship at will, without cause, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(C) has the right to extensive supervision of the work then there is a strong inference of employee status;

(D) provides the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work and they are of substantial value, there is an inference of employee status; if the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish the work are not significant, no inference is created regarding the employment status;

(E) pays for the work on an hourly or piece rate wage rather than by the job, there is an inference of employee status; and

(F) and person performing the services entered into either a written or oral contract, the employment status the parties believed they were creating in the contract will be given deference; however, the contract will be construed in view of the circumstances under which it was made and the conduct of the parties while the job is being performed;

(2) is a regular part of the employer's business or service; if it is a regular part of the employer's business, there is an inference of employee status;

(3) can be expected to carry its own accident burden; this element is more important than (4)-(6) of this section; if the person performing the services is unlikely to be able to meet the costs of industrial accidents out of the payment for the services, there is a strong inference of employee status;

(4) involves little or no skill or experience; if so, there is an inference of employee status;

(5) is sufficient to amount to the hiring of continuous services, as distinguished from contracting for the completion of a particular job; if the work amounts to hiring of continuous services, there is an inference of employee status;

(6) is intermittent, as opposed to continuous; if the work is intermittent, there is a weak inference of no employee status.

ANALYSIS

1)  On the date of his injury on May 11, 2010, was Applicant an “employee” employed by Premier, an “employer,” under AS 23.30.395(19)-(20), and the “relative nature of the work test,” as codified in 8 AAC 45.890?

Applying the AS 23.30.120 presumption analysis, Applicant attached the presumption he was an “employee” of Premier an “employer” at the time of Applicant’s May 11, 2010 injury.  This is based upon Applicant’s testimony, and on testimony from Applicant’s brother William Hunt and William Hunt’s wife, Kelly Hunt, stating Premier hired Applicant in May 2010 as an employee for employment purposes as a laborer, and specifically to perform landscaping work for Premier for the KGBR Project.  Applicant also established through his testimony, and the testimony of William Hunt, Applicant did not have his own separate calling or business as a landscaper or tree cutter, and did not have the right to hire or terminate others to assist in the performance of the services for which he was hired by Premier. Other evidence causing the presumption to attach includes Applicant’s and William Hunt’s testimony Premier had the right to exercise control over the jobs Applicant performed, both Applicant and Premier had the right to terminate the employment relationship at will, without cause, Mr. Casey had the right to supervise Applicant’s work, Premier provided all significant tools and materials to perform the services, Premier paid Applicant on an hourly basis for the services performed, Applicant and Premier entered into an oral contract creating an employment relationship, and clearing lots is a regular part of Premier’s landscaping business.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing an employee-employer relationship between Applicant and Premier, attaching the § 120 presumption.  

Once the presumption is raised, Premier must rebut the presumption with substantial evidence, which is viewed in isolation and without a determination of credibility.   Paul Casey’s testimony Premier never hired Applicant as an employee is substantial evidence tending to show Applicant was not Premier’s “employee” and Premier was not his “employer” at the time of Applicant’s injury.  Consequently, this is substantial evidence to rebut the §120 presumption and shift the burden to Applicant, who must prove all elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.

Applicant has met his burden of proving, by a preponderance of evidence, he was Premier’s “employee” and conversely Premier was his “employer” on May 11, 2010, based on the following application of the “relative nature of the work test”:  

As a preliminary matter, in weighing the evidence provided, lesser weight is given to Paul Casey’s testimony for several reasons.  Mr. Casey testified he hired Applicant, William Hunt, Joe Lott and one other individual as “subcontractors” to clear and level a lot off Knik Goose Bay Road.  Mr. Casey testified he bid the KGBR Project as a five day job.  He testified he reached five days by calculating man hours divided by the number of subcontractors he could get to do the job and this calculation totaled five days for four people.  Mr. Casey also testified he paid the entire amount budgeted for the tree cutting portion of the bid to William Hunt as a “subcontractor.”  William Hunt’s contract was a flat rate of $315.00 to cut trees, cut the felled trees into 8 to 12 foot segments and stack the trees on the edge of the drive.  

Mr. Casey subsequently testified he later hired Applicant as a “subcontractor” on “the same terms” as William Hunt.  Mr. Casey’s testimony he hired Applicant as a “subcontractor” for a flat $315.00 rate based upon the amount he initially bid for the KGBR Project is not credible, because Applicant was not hired by Premier until after the KGBR Project was already bid and underway.  Mr. Casey acknowledged he agreed to pay, and paid, Applicant $315.00 for the project in addition to the $315.00 Mr. Casey agreed to pay, and paid, William Hunt for the same project.  Mr. Casey also testified he told William Hunt “he would get a couple more guys to cut trees down as well” and when William Hunt asked Mr. Casey if Applicant could join the KGBR Project, Mr. Casey said “yes,” Premier “could take another laborer on.”  This weakens Mr. Casey’s testimony and his overall credibility.

The “most important factors” in the “relative nature of the work test” include 8 AAC 45.890(1) and (2).  At least one of these factors must be resolved in Applicant’s favor to find he is Premier’s employee.  The first of the two most important factors, §890(1), has multiple parts, used to determine if the work is a “separate calling or business.”  If the person performing the services had the right to “hire or terminate others” to assist in the performance of the service “for which the person was hired,” there is an inference the person was not an employee.  The following analysis addresses these determinations:

(1) Was Applicant’s Work A Separate Calling or Business; i.e., Did Applicant Have the Right to Hire or Terminate Others at the Time of His May 11, 2010 Injury?
Applicant, William Hunt and Mr. Casey testified none of the other workers on the KGBR Project had the authority to hire or fire each other, with the exception of Mr. Casey.  Because Applicant did not have the right to hire or terminate others, there is no inference he was not Premier’s employee.  To the contrary, this tends to prove he was its employee.

A) Did Premier have the right to exercise control over the manner and means to accomplish the desired result?

Not only did Premier have the right to exercise control, it exercised control and directed Applicant precisely how to accomplish the assigned work to achieve the desired results.  Based upon Applicant’s testimony, Mr. Casey had the right to exercise control of the manner and means by which Employee accomplished the work Mr. Casey gave him and exercised that right. Specifically, Mr. Casey supervised Applicant’s work, instructed him how to cut trees, directed him to cut specific trees and not others, directed him to cut the removed trees, and load them on Mr. Casey’s trailer.  Under 8 AAC 45.890, this creates a “strong inference of employee status.”

B) Did Premier and Applicant have the right to terminate the relationship at will, without cause?

Applicant and William Hunt credibly testified Premier and Applicant each possessed the right to terminate the employment relationship at will and without cause.  Additionally, Mr. Casey testified none of the other workers on the KGBR Project had the authority to hire or fire each other, with the exception of Mr. Casey.  This creates a “strong inference of employee status.”

C) Did Premier have the right to extensive supervision of Applicant’s work?

Based upon Applicant’s credible testimony, Mr. Casey had the right to extensive supervision of Applicant’s work, and exercised that right.  Specifically, Applicant credibly testified Mr. Casey was onsite regularly, overseeing his work and specifically correcting or directing Applicant’s performance of the work.  For example, when Mr. Casey saw Applicant and another laborer using an excavator to steady a tree in the wind before Applicant cut it, Mr. Casey directed him not to do so and instead use the lanyards Premier provided for such purpose.  Mr. Casey also instructed Applicant how to notch the trees before cutting them.  This creates a “strong inference of employee status.”

D) Did Premier provide the tools, instruments, and facilities to accomplish Applicant’s work and are they are of substantial value?

Premier provided Applicant’s tools, instruments and all equipment necessary to accomplish his work for Premier, based upon his testimony he had no tree cutting tools of his own and used Premier’s hard hat and chainsaw to cut trees.  This is also based upon Mr. Casey’s testimony he provided the heavy equipment for the landscaping job.  Applicant credibly testified his job included loading the felled and cut trees onto Premier’s trailer.  Mr. Casey and Applicant both testified Premier provided the trailer and vehicles for removal of the trees from the property.  Mr. Casey testified the chainsaw Applicant used did not belong to Premier but to Joe Lott, another “subcontractor” on the project.  However, Mr. Casey supplied the chainsaw, which he retrieved from the back of a Premier truck, to Applicant for use in the performance the work.  The chainsaw was provided by Premier.  Mr. Casey testified the heavy equipment used for the KGBR Project is valued at approximately $108,000.  The hard hat, chainsaw, vehicle, and trailer Employee used in performance of his work are valued at approximately $40,000 and are of substantial value, creating a “strong inference of employee status.”

E) Did Premier pay for Applicant’s work on an hourly or piece rate wage?

Paul Casey testified he subcontracted the KGBR Project to William Hunt for a flat rate of $315.00 based upon Premier’s original bid for the project and the projected man hours anticipated for completion of the tree cutting portion.  He also testified he paid the entire amount budgeted for the tree cutting portion of the project to William Hunt.  This is not credible because Mr. Casey subsequently testified he later paid Applicant $315.00 for the same project, in addition to the $315.00 he paid William Hunt.  Based upon Applicant’s testimony, corroborated by William Hunt’s testimony, Premier paid Applicant $15.00 per hour to work as a laborer on the project.  This creates “an inference of employee status.”

F) Did the parties enter into a written or oral contract, and if so what was their understanding?

Based upon Applicant’s testimony, Applicant and Premier entered into an oral employment agreement.  Applicant understood his services for Premier were rendered as an “employee” in an “employee-employer” relationship.  Mr. Casey admitted Applicant provided services, but understood him to be an “independent contractor” for Premier.  This contract is construed in view of the circumstances under which it was made and the parties’ subsequent conduct. The evidence shows the parties intended to, and did, create an employee-employer arrangement. There was an offer, acceptance and consideration for Applicant’s work at Premier.  He entered into an express contract for employment as a laborer with Premier.  

Applicant’s work for Premier on May 11, 2010, was not a “separate calling or business” based upon Applicant’s credible testimony he never owned or operated his own landscaping or tree cutting business prior to this injury.  Applicant was performing, among other things, landscaping work for Premier prior to and at the time of his injury.  Specifically, he was in the process of cutting a tree at the time a chainsaw lacerated his arm.  Applicant’s job just prior to working for Premier was delivering newspapers for the Anchorage Daily News.  Applicant did not have authority to “hire or terminate” anyone to assist him in his Premier work, based upon the testimony of Applicant, William Hunt and Paul Casey.  This tends to prove he was Premier’s employee.  Consequently, in respect to this “most important factor,” this part of the test is resolved in Applicant’s favor and there is a very strong inference Applicant was Premier’s Employee on May 11, 2010.

(2) Were Applicant’s Services a Regular Part of Premier’s Business or Service?

Based upon Applicant’s and Mr. Casey’s testimony, Premier is in the business of landscaping.  Performing landscaping services, including tree cutting, is an integral part of owning and operating a landscaping business.  Further, Mr. Casey testified if he had not found William Hunt or Applicant to perform the services, Mr. Casey would have performed them himself.  Consequently, Applicant’s services, as described by both Applicant and Mr. Casey, were a regular part of Premier’s business or service.  Accordingly, this creates “an inference of employee status.”

(3) Can Applicant Be Expected To Carry His Own Accident Burden?

Based upon Applicant’s testimony, he did not have a business license for landscaping work or any personal landscaping tools.  He did not have a workers’ compensation insurance policy on himself.  Premier paid him only $15.00 per hour at the time of his injury. Workers’ compensation insurance premiums are relatively expensive, depending upon the nature of the employer’s business, and its payroll.  It would be unreasonable to expect Applicant in this case to carry his own accident burden, given his relatively low hourly pay rate and the nature of his services for Premier.  Consequently, this creates “a strong inference of employee status.”

(4) Did Applicant's Work Involve Little Or No Skill Or Experience?

Based upon Applicant’s testimony, his work for Premier involved relatively little skill or experience.  Applicant testified he did not have any formal tree cutting training and learned the skill from his father when helping out at his parents’ house.  Applicant’s work for Premier required no special education, training, or particular experience.  Consequently, this creates an “inference of employee status.”

(5) Was The Employment Agreement Sufficient To Amount To The Hiring Of Continuous Services, As Distinguished From Contracting For The Completion of a Particular Job?

Based upon Applicant’s testimony, his hiring with Premier amounts to hiring for continuous services as distinguished from contracting for the completion of a particular job.  Applicant and William Hunt testified Premier hired them for the summer to work on jobs Mr. Casey bid for Premier.  They testified Mr. Casey said there would be work available all summer for Applicant and William Hunt.  This is corroborated by Mr. Casey’s testimony who said he told Applicant there would likely be additional work for him arising from bids Premier was submitting for additional projects during the summer.  This creates “an inference of employee status.”

(6) Was The Employment Intermittent, As Opposed To Continuous?

Though seasonal, Applicant’s employment with Premier was continuous as opposed to intermittent.  But for his injury, and based upon his testimony, Applicant would have continued working for Premier as a laborer during the summer of 2010 on additional projects Premier bid. This creates “an inference of employee status.”

The overwhelming preponderance of the available evidence, and reasonable inferences from that evidence, support a conclusion Applicant was working for an “employer” Premier as an “employee” at the time of his May 11, 2010 injury.  Based upon the “relative nature the work test” as set forth in 8 AAC 45.890, Applicant was Premier’s “employee” and Premier was his “employer” on May 11, 2010, as defined in AS 23.30.395(19)-(20).

2) Is Applicant entitled to an award of TTD from Premier from May 11, 2010, through August 2, 2010?

The presumption of compensability does not apply here because Premier does not dispute Applicant’s entitlement to benefits or its liability for those benefits, other than disputing Applicant is an “employee” under the Act.  Rockney v. Boslough Const. Co., 115 P.3d 1240, 1244 (Alaska 2005); Burke v. Houston Nana, LLC, 222 P.3d 851, 861 (Alaska 2010).  However, as set forth above, Applicant was Premier’s “employee” and Premier was his “employer.”  There is no further factual dispute regarding Applicant’s (Employee) entitlement to benefits or Premier’s (Employer) liability for those benefits.  It is undisputed Employee was cutting down trees with a chainsaw while working for Premier, when the tree Employee was cutting twisted in the wind, causing the chainsaw Employee was using to cut Employee’s left forearm.  This is supported by emergency room physician Dr. Raymond Legenza’s report, “[Employee] comes in with a laceration from a chainsaw to his forearm.  It could have been a lot worse.  These appear wide as the chainsaw ripped apart the tissue but did not go into deep vital structures.”  There is no medical evidence of any other cause of Employee’s injury and there are no medical records disputing the work-relatedness of the injury.  Employee’s forearm injuries are compensable and work-related.

There is no factual dispute regarding Employee’s entitlement to TTD benefits or Premier’s liability for TTD benefits.  Emergency room physician Dr. Legenza treated Employee on May 11, 2010 for forearm lacerations from a chainsaw.  On July 27, 2010 and August 11, 2010, Dr. Leslie Dean treated Employee for left wrist pain and left hand numbness relating to Applicant’s chainsaw injury and recommended desensitization techniques to improve the numbness.  Dr. Dean released employee to light duty work as of August 2, 2010 and full duty work as of August 11, 2010.  Dr. Dean also opined Employee was not medically stable from May 11, 2010 to August 2, 2010, stating, “I will see the patient back in the fall to see how he is progressing.  If the patient is doing fine, then he will be deemed medically stable and an impairment rating can be determined.”  This injury is “the substantial cause” of Employee’s disability subsequent to that date.  Employer has not contested Employee was disabled by a chainsaw laceration Employee incurred while working for Employer and Employee was released to light duty work as of August 2, 2010 and returned to work as a roofer.  Consequently, Employee is entitled to TTD benefits from May 11, 2010, to August 2, 2010 as a matter of fact and law.  Jurisdiction is retained to resolve any disputes over TTD.

3) Is Applicant entitled to an award of medical costs from Premier?

The presumption of compensability does not apply here because Premier does not dispute Employee’s entitlement to medical costs, other than disputing Employee is an “employee” under the Act.  Employee incurred medical expenses and itemized some of these and filed some related medical records with the board.  Employee served some of these on Premier and other parties.  These records and bills relate to Applicant’s chainsaw injury.  Employee is entitled to his claimed medical costs based upon the submitted bills, Drs. Legenza and Dean’s reports and Employee’s testimony of the injury and his subsequent symptoms.  There is no medical evidence of any other cause of Employee’s medical costs and there are no medical records disputing the work-relatedness of the injury or challenging the reasonableness or necessity of Employee’s medical care to date.  

Employee seeks payment of $5,634.45 in medical costs to date.  Employee’s bills include a statement from Sunshine Community Health Center for $78.00.  The description is simply “balance forward” as of May 19, 2010.  There are no medical records in the board’s file relating to Sunshine Community Health to which this bill may pertain.  It cannot be determined whether this bill relates to a reasonable or necessary medical expense connected to Employee’s work injury for Employer.  Similarly, Employee seeks payment of two bills from Anchorage Fracture for dates July 27, 2010 and August 11, 2010, but no billing statements are in the file documenting the respective $430.00 and $118.00 charges and identifying to what the charges pertain.  Consequently, Employee has failed to carry his burden of production as to these requests and they are denied.

Employee is entitled to payment of his other costs for which bills and records are in the board’s file.  Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians is awarded its $888.00 bill, Mat-Su Regional Medical Center its $2,077.99 bill related to Employee’s emergency room visit on May 11, 2010, Alaska Spine Institute its $1,768.00 bill for Employee’s nerve testing on July 28, 2010, and Wal-Mart Pharmacy its $18.22 prescription bill.  Consequently, the medical costs awarded these providers total $4,752.21.  

4) Is Applicant entitled to a penalty from Premier payable to him or his medical providers under 
AS 23.30.155(d) and (e)?

The presumption of compensability does not apply here because Premier does not dispute Employee’s entitlement to a penalty, other than disputing Employee is an “employee” under the Act.  Employee incurred medical expenses and itemized some of these and filed some related medical records with the board.  Employee served some of these on Premier and other parties.  These records and bills related to Employee’s chainsaw injury.  Premier does not dispute it received these bills and records, which were properly filed.  Premier does not dispute the reasonableness or necessity of Employee’s medical care to date.  Employer failed to file a controversion notice or proof of payment of these bills.  There are no medical records disputing the work-relatedness of the injury or challenging the reasonableness or necessity of Employee’s medical care to date.

Under AS 23.30.155(b), the TTD benefits claimed by Employee in this case were due fourteen days after May 11, 2010.  Employer received notice of the above-referenced $4,752.21 in medical bills when Employee provided the bills and supporting medical documents to Employer.  (Affidavit of Service, September 3, 2010; Medical Summary, October 1, 2010).  The medical benefits were due thirty days after October 1, 2010, the date by which Employee had served both the medical records and associated bills on Employer.  A 25% penalty is due under AS 23.30.155(e) because Premier failed to pay or properly controvert the TTD or documented medical benefits within seven or thirty days, respectively, after they became due.  Late payment may be excused if Employer shows payment was not made for reasons beyond its control.  Premier has not submitted any evidence why it was unable to meet its legal responsibility to pay Employee’s claim.  A 25% penalty is awarded on the value of all past TTD awarded in this decision, payable directly to Employee.  We retain jurisdiction to resolve any disputes as to the precise amount.

A 25% penalty is also awarded against Employer on the value of the medical benefits awarded to Employee’s health care providers.  Employer is ordered to pay a penalty of $222.00 to Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians, $519.50 to Mat-Su Regional Medical Center, $442.00 to Alaska Spine Institute and $4.50 to Wal-Mart Pharmacy directly as, “the recipient[s] to whom the unpaid installment was to be paid,” under AS 23.30.155(e).

5) Is Applicant entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and costs?

Employer vigorously resisted this case, so fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b) may be awarded.  Employee retained an attorney who was successful in prosecuting his claims.  His claims were relatively complicated with numerous witnesses.  The benefits Employee obtained are significant.

Mr. Croft submitted two attorney fee affidavits.  The first itemized 29.8 hours of attorney and paralegal time, at rates of $275 and $150 per hour for a total of $6,607.50 in attorney and paralegal fees. The second itemized 6.3 hours of attorney and paralegal time at rates ranging from $275 and $150 per hour for a total of $1,582.50 in attorney and paralegal fees.  Total attorney and paralegal fees equal $8,189.50.  Subsection .145(b) requires an award of attorney’s fees to be reasonable.  Premier did not object to Employee’s attorney’s hourly rate, hours or paralegal rates.  The requested hourly rates and itemized hours for Employee’s attorney and paralegal are reasonable.  Consequently, Employee is awarded $8,189.50 in reasonable attorney and paralegal fees in this case.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1) On the date of his injury on May 11, 2010, Employee was an “employee” employed by Premier Remediation, an “employer,” under AS 23.30.395(19)-(20), and the “relative nature of the work test,” as codified in 8 AAC 45.890.
2) Employee is entitled to TTD from May 11, 2010, through August 2, 2010.
3) Employee is entitled to an award of medical costs.
4) Employee is entitled to a penalty from Premier payable to him or his medical providers under AS 23.30.155.
5) Employee is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees.

ORDER

1) Employee’s claim for a determination he was an “employee” employed by Premier, an “employer,” under AS 23.30.395(19)-(20), and the “relative nature of the work test,” as codified in 8 AAC 45.890 is granted.

2) Employee’s claim for TTD from May 11, 2010, through August 2, 2010 is granted.
3) Employee’s claim for medical costs is denied in part and granted in part.  Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians is awarded $888.00, Mat-Su Regional Medical Center is awarded $2,077.99, Alaska Spine Institute is awarded $1,768.00, and Wal-Mart Pharmacy is awarded $18.22.
4) Employee’s claim for a penalty from Employer payable to him or his medical providers under 
AS 23.30.155 is granted.  Employee is awarded a 25% penalty on the value of all past TTD awarded in this decision.  Employee’s medical providers are awarded a 25% penalty in the following amounts: $222.00 to Mat-Su Emergency Med Physicians, $519.50 to Mat-Su Regional Medical Center, $442.00 to Alaska Spine Institute and $4.50 to Wal-Mart Pharmacy.
5) Employee’s claim for an award of attorney’s fees is granted.  Employee is awarded $8,189.50 in reasonable attorney and paralegal fees in this case.
Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on April      , 2011.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127.

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JASON A. HUNT employee / applicant v. PREMIER REMEDIATION, employer; WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BENEFITS GUARANTY FUND, insurer / defendants; Case No. 201008904; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on April 5, 2011.





Lynda Gillespie, Workers’ Compensation Officer
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